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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN 

Applicant
:
Mr P Carmichael

Scheme
:
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)

Employer
:
Medway Council (Medway)

Administrator
:
Kent County Council (Kent)

MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION

1. Mr Carmichael has complained that Medway and Kent failed properly to consider his application for ill health retirement and failed correctly to apply the LGPS Regulations in that;

1.1. the medical adviser chosen by Medway was not independent (Regulations 97(9), 97(10) and 97(14)(b)),

1.2. Kent and Medway failed to apply the correct ill health criteria (Regulations 27(1) and 27(5)), and

1.3. Medway failed to advise him of his right of appeal (Regulation 98(5)).

2. Mr Carmichael also says that he was not provided with a stage one decision under the Internal Dispute Resolution (IDR) procedure within the statutory time frame. He is of the opinion that the Appointed Person was acting as an advocate for Medway. Mr Carmichael believes that there was a breach of The Occupational Pension Schemes (Disclosure of Information) Regulations 1996 in that Medway failed to provide him with information about the requirements for ill health retirement.

3. In addition, Mr Carmichael has alleged a number of failings in administrative practice in that 

3.1. Prejudicial information was provided to the Occupational Health Advisers by Medway,

3.2. Medway made inappropriate approaches to the Occupational Health Advisers, i.e. they commissioned adverse reports about his health for purposes other than his pension application,

3.3. Medway breached a written direction from the Appointed Person not to contact the Occupational Health Advisers. The Appointed Person then failed to acknowledge that breach,

3.4. The Appointed Person made inappropriate references to the LGPS Regulations.

4. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended)

5. Regulation 27(1) provided,

“Where a member leaves a local government employment by reason of being permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of that employment or any other comparable employment with his employing authority because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, he is entitled to an ill-health pension and grant.”

6. Regulation 27(5) provided,

“In paragraph (1) –

“comparable employment” means employment in which, when compared with the member’s employment –

(a) the contractual provisions as to capacity either are the same or differ only to an extent that is reasonable given the nature of the member’s ill-health or infirmity of mind or body; and

(b) the contractual provisions as to place, remuneration, hours of work, holiday entitlement, sickness or injury entitlement and other material terms do not differ substantially from those of the member’s employment; and

“permanently incapable” means incapable until, at the earliest, the member’s 65th birthday.”

7. Regulation 97(9) provided,

“Before making a decision as to whether a member is entitled under regulation 27 or under regulation 31 on the ground of ill-health, the Scheme employer must obtain a certificate from an independent registered medical practitioner who is qualified in occupational health medicine as to whether in his opinion the member is permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of the relevant local government employment because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body.”

8. Regulation 97(10) provided,

“If the Scheme employer is not the member’s appropriate administering authority, before referring any question to any particular registered medical practitioner under paragraph (9) the Scheme employer must obtain the approval of the administering authority to their choice of registered medical practitioner.”

9. Regulation 97(14)(b) provided,

“In paragraph (9) –

(a) “permanently incapable” has the meaning given by regulation 27(5), and

(b) “qualified in occupational health medicine” means holding a diploma in occupational medicine (D Occ Med) or an equivalent qualification issued by a competent authority in an EEA State (which has the meaning given by the European Specialist Medical Qualifications Order 1995) or being an Associate, a Member or a Fellow of the Faculty of Occupational Medicine or an equivalent institution of an EEA State.”

10. Regulation 98(5) provided,

“Every notification must also –

(a) refer to the rights available under regulations 100 and 102,

(b) specify the time limits within which the rights under those regulations may be exercised, and

(c) specify the name and the address of the appointed person and the appropriate administering authority to whom applications under regulation 100 may be made.”

11. Regulation 99 provided,

“Appointment of persons to resolve disputes

(1) Each administering authority must appoint a panel of persons they consider to be suitably qualified for the purpose of resolving disagreements in respect of which an application is made under regulation 100…

(2) …

(3) An application under regulation 100 may be decided by one or more appointed persons…

(4) An application must not be referred to a person who has previously been involved in the subject matter of the disagreement.

(5) An appointed person shall hold and vacate office under the terms of his appointment.

(6) But he may resign by notice in writing to the administering authority.

(7) Each administering authority shall determine –

(a) the procedure to be followed by the persons appointed by them when exercising their functions as appointed persons, and

(b) the manner in which those functions are to be exercised.”

12. Regulation 101 provided,

“Notice of decisions by appointed persons under regulation 100

(1) A decision on the matters raised by an application under regulation 100 must be issued by the appropriate appointed person –

(a) to the applicant,

(b) to the Scheme employer, and

(c) if the Scheme employer is not the appropriate administering authority, to that authority

by notice in writing before the expiry of the period of two months beginning with the date the application was received.

(2) But, if no such notice is issued before the expiry of that period, an interim reply must immediately be sent to those persons, setting out the reasons for the delay and an expected date for issuing the decision.

(3) …”

The Occupational Pension Schemes (Internal Dispute Resolution Procedures) Regulations 1996

13. Regulation 5 provides,

“Notice of a decision

(1) Subject to paragraph (3), a decision on the matters raised by an application under regulation 4 shall be issued to the complainant and, where applicable, his representative by notice in writing within two months from the date on which the particulars specified in regulation 4(2) were received.

(2) …

(3) If, in any case, written notice of a decision under section 50(2)(a) of the Act is not issued within two months from the date on which the particulars of the disagreement were received, an interim reply must be immediately be sent to the complainant and, where applicable, his representative setting out the reasons for the delay and an expected date for issuing the decision.”

The Occupational Pension Schemes (Disclosure of Information) Regulations 1996

14. Regulation 3 provides,

“Constitution of scheme

(1) Subject to paragraph (5), the trustees of a scheme shall make provision, in the manner specified in paragraph (2), for the disclosure, to persons and trade unions in the categories specified in paragraph (3), of –

(a) the contents –

(i) of the trust deed constituting the scheme, if it is constituted by such a deed; or

(ii) of any document constituting the scheme, if it is not constituted by a trust deed,

and, if the rules of the scheme are not set out in a trust deed or other document the contents of which fall to be disclosed under sub-paragraph (a)(i) or (ii), the contents of the rules;

(b) the contents of any document which amends or supplements or wholly or partly supersedes a document the contents of which fall to be disclosed under sub-paragraph (a) or this sub-paragraph; and

(c) …

(2) A copy of any of the documents referred to in paragraph (1), shall, within 2 months of a request being made by a person or a trade union in the categories specified in paragraph (3) –

(a) be made available free of charge for inspection at a place which is reasonable having regard to the circumstances of the request and of the person who or trade union which made it; or, at their option,

(b) be furnished to such person or trade union, and where a charge is levied it shall not exceed the expense incurred in copying, posting and packing such a copy, so however that in the case of a document copies of which are publicly available, the trustees may, instead of furnishing a copy, advise the person who or the trade union which has requested it where copies may be obtained…”

15. Regulation 4 provides,

“Basic information about the scheme

(1) Subject to the provisions of paragraph (4), the trustees of a scheme shall furnish in writing the information specified in Schedule 1 to persons and trade unions in the categories specified in paragraphs (2) and (3).

(2) The information specified in Schedule 1 shall be given as of course, where practicable, to every prospective member and where it has not been practicable… to a person within 2 months of his becoming a member…

(3) The information specified in Schedule 1 shall be given to –

(a) any member or prospective member of, or beneficiary under, the scheme;

(b) the spouse…

(c) any independent trade union…

on request (except where the same information was furnished to that person or trade union in the 12 months prior to the request being made), as soon as practicable and in any event within 2 months of the request being made.”

16. The relevant paragraphs in Schedule 1 are,

“12. What benefits are payable under the scheme and how they are calculated (including… the rate at which rights to benefits accrue).”

“16. The conditions on which benefits, other than survivors’ benefits, are payable under the scheme.”

“17. Which benefits, if any, are payable only at some person’s discretion.”

Application for Ill Health Pension

17. Mr Carmichael issued a claim on 26 March 2001 in the Employment Tribunal alleging that he had been subject to disability discrimination. Medway say they received notice of his application on 2 April 2001. 

18. On 4 April 2001 Medway sought an opinion from Dr Stoot, a Consultant Occupational Physician at Medical and Industrial Services Limited (MIS). In their covering letter they said that they were making the referral because Mr Carmichael had been on sick leave since July 2000. Medway said that at a recent home visit Mr Carmichael had indicated that his health had not improved to a level at which he could envisage returning to work in the foreseeable future. The form included with Medway’s letter contained authority from Mr Carmichael for MIS to obtain information from his GP and consultant. As the ‘reason for referral’, Medway had ticked the boxes for ‘Ill health caused by work’ and ‘Possibility of ill health retirement’.

19. Also Iin their covering letter, Medway said that Mr Carmichael had been referred to Kent’s Occupational Health Department (OHU) in September 2000 and they enclosed a copy of OHU’s report. Medway said that they had been working with Mr Carmichael to resolve a grievance in order to facilitate his return to work. They asked Dr Stoot, if Mr Carmichael was not eligible for ill health retirement, to comment on his current level of health and when he thought Mr Carmichael would be fit to return to work. Medway explained that they would like the referral processed as a matter of urgency because Mr Carmichael’s post had been deleted following a reorganisation.

20. On 20 April 2001 Medway sent a fax to MIS containing documentation relating to Mr Carmichael. They said that, since the original referral, Mr Carmichael had been placed under notice of redundancy and they wished to deal with him under the appropriate process. Medway also said that Mr Carmichael had lodged a claim with an employment tribunal, part of which alleged discrimination under the Disability Discrimination Act.

21. MIS approached Mr Carmichael’s GP, Dr Qureshi and requested a report. They said,

“His work involves mostly clerical work and based space tasks. Mr Carmichael apparently suffers with fibromyalgia which is under investigation and treatment. I understand he has been off sick since July 2000 and there may be some significant management issues that have contributed to his sickness absence. Management report that [Mr Carmichael] feels that his condition is such that he would not be able to return to work in the foreseeable future and he has therefore requested consideration be given to whether he would be eligible for ill health retirement.

We have been asked for advice regarding fitness for work, the likelihood of being able to return to work in the near future and whether there are any steps that could be taken to facilitate an early rehabilitation to the workplace. In your report I would ask you to cover the following points:

1. Details of medical condition accounting for absence from work, if known.

2. Concise account of past medical history.

3. Details of relevant investigations performed and advice from specialists where this has been sought.

4. Details of treatment options, which have been implemented.

5. Likely date of return to work.

6. Does the person have any substantial impairment that adversely affects the ability to carry out normal daily activities? If so. What is the likely duration of this impairment?

7. Are there any restrictions, which should apply to employment now or in the future?

8. Will the person be able to render satisfactory attendance and performance at work in the future?”

22. In her response, Dr Qureshi listed the problems with which Mr Carmichael had presented, including pain in his right foot (8 August 1999), pain on his coccyx (23 August 1999), and multiple joint pains affecting neck, shoulders, ankles and hands (14 February 2000). Dr Qureshi said that Mr Carmichael had seen a Dr Sharma on 14 June 2000 and that no evidence of arthropathy or neuropathy had been found but that he did have some multiple trigger points of fibromyalgia. She also said that on 14 September 2000 Mr Carmichael had been found to have 2 definite trigger points in both ankles. Dr Qureshi said that Mr Carmichael had been absent from work since 17 April 2000 because of these pains and that his progress had been slow and poor. She said that he continued to suffer pain in his feet, ankles, shins, neck, forearms and fingers with occasional pins and needles in his feet with no numbness. Dr Qureshi explained,

“He also suffers from fatigue and anxiety and depression. He has become quite disabled and now walks with a walking stick. Currently he is attending physiotherapy and has been given a TENS machine and is waiting for hydrotherapy. I have also recently referred him to Dr. George, Consultant Rheumatologist at Medway Hospital.

On 3rd July 2000 Mr. Carmichael reported that he has had problems at work. There had been allegations of bullying and harassment to a colleague. Over the past few months this has caused him extreme anxiety and stress. In August 2000 he was cleared of these charges. Mr. Carmichael did put in a formal grievance against his manager. These problems have caused him extreme uncertainty and anxiety regarding his career. I feel all these problems have caused a major problem in Mr. Carmichael’s health. Since October 2000 I have started him on an anti-depressant… This has improved his anxiety to some extent.

In his past history he has had chronic peptic ulcer…

At present Mr. Carmichael is unfit for work. Unless the problems at his work place can be resolved, he will find it very difficult to work there.

Currently Mr. Carmichael has substantial joint aches and pains which would affect his normal daily activities. It is not possible to estimate the duration he will have these pains. He is restricted by his fatigue and his pain to carry out any work.

I believe that Mr. Carmichael will be able to render satisfactory attendance and performance at work in the future.”

23. Dr Sperber, an Occupational Physician at MIS wrote to Medway on 9 May 2001 informing them that he had received Dr Qureshi’s report, which he then outlined. Dr Sperber concluded,

“In summary, this gentleman is suffering from substantial joint pains, for which an underlying diagnosis has yet to be found. Additionally, he is suffering from psychological symptoms, which are related to perceived stress at the workplace, for which he is currently receiving treatment. I have insufficient data on which to base an opinion regarding his suitability for Ill Health Retirement or a possible return to work. I will note, however, that if the condition responsible for his joint pain is fibromyalgia the long-term prognosis does indicate recovery, in most cases.

I therefore suggest he is now to be sent for an independent medical examination to further detail in the issues in the case.

Please let me know if you wish me to proceed in this way. If you have any further questions I would be happy to discuss this case further with you”

24. Medwayfiled their response to Mr Carmichael’s Employment Tribunal application on 9 May 2001. They say that, at that point, they had not consulted MIS about the Employment Tribunal case. Mr Carmichael, having seen Dr Qureshi’s report, wrote to MIS on 11 May 2001 with his own comments. He explained that Dr Qureshi was on sick leave, which meant that she was unable to amend her report. Mr Carmichael said that the pains Dr Qureshi had referred to had started in June 1999 and the reference to 9 August 1999 might be to a X-ray or blood tests. He pointed out that, although he had been on sick leave from 17 April 2000, he had returned to work until going on sick leave again from 27 July 2000. Mr Carmichael said he did not think he was suffering from depression but the prescribed drug had helped with his anxiety. He pointed out that he had not been given a TENS machine but had bought his own and had tried other ‘gadgets’ with limited results. Mr Carmichael said that he thought the resolution of ‘work problems’ was academic because he was unfit for work and had been selected for redundancy.

25. Mr Carmichael disagreed with Dr Qureshi’s comment that he would be able to provide full or part time attendance at any point in the foreseeable future. He said he thought that Dr Qureshi had made this comment because they had agreed that it was important for him to have a goal to work towards and that she was reluctant to exclude the possibility that he might be able to work. In addition to his comments on Dr Qureshi’s report, Mr Carmichael also provided comments on OHU’s earlier report. He explained that his medication had changed and that he was trying a variety of alternative therapies. Mr Carmichael also outlined the ‘state of disease’ as he saw it, including fewer ‘good’ days and more exceptionally ‘bad’ days. He noted he had symptoms of poor concentration and forgetfulness, which he said was typical of ‘FMS’.

26. Dr Waters, an Occupational Physician at MIS acknowledged Mr Carmichael’s letter and said that they would take his comments into account when they collated all the medical evidence, including that of the independent medical adviser he was due to see at the end of May 2001. Mr Carmichael was seen by Dr Karim on 30 May 2001. Dr Karim wrote to MIS on 31 May 2001 outlining Mr Carmichael’s medical history and his subsequent examination. He concluded,

“From his history of illness and signs and symptoms with various investigations done, it is correct to label his condition as Fibromyalgia Syndrome. This diagnosis is further strengthened by confirmation by the Rheumatologist, Dr B K Sharma.

In his present state of pain, stiffness and fatigue, which has shown no signs of reduction for the last one year, he is unlikely to improve in the short term. He cannot sleep with this condition leading to under rest state. He gets confused and cannot handle simple day to day routine tasks, needing frequent help from his wife.

He uses a stick to walk. All daily activities are greatly hampered by considerable pain and discomfort. Towards the end of the day he is virtually exhausted and confused.

His illness has poor prognosis. It has a chronic cause and may run for years leading to physical disability and mental confusion which he already has.

I cannot see Mr Carmichael being able to handle his job in this state. Prospect of complete recovery is slim though the disease may wax and wane.

He will not be able to render satisfactory attendance and performance at work in the future.”

27. In his report dated 10 May 2001, Dr Sharma had said,

“[Mr Carmichael] complained of pain in his feet, knees, neck, hips and lower back, sleeping poorly and getting fatigued for the previous 6 months. He gave no history of any injury. The symptoms of pain were variable and inclined to be aggravated by physical activities such as driving. He also felt that the symptoms were worse towards the end of the day. There was nil else of relevance in the rest of the history.

Clinical examination revealed no significant physical abnormality apart from multiple trigger points of fibromyalgia. I advised him to do some exercises and made an appointment to see him for a review after 3 months and try to avoid stressful situations as well as how to deal with his problem on irritable bowel syndrome.

When he came back to see me on 13 September 2000 he was using a walking stick and had been taking Amitriptyline.

He showed 2 trigger points near the medial malleoli which I injected with corticosteroids and Lignocaine. When I saw him again on 31 January 2001 he kept complaining of rather diffuse aches and pains but nothing very specific. I had a prolonged discussion with him and gave him general advice regarding medication. He also talked about his problems at his work place.

Since then he has written to me regarding his difficulty at his place of work with his employers and this has led to a lot of anxiety.

In my experience I find that anxiety can aggravate the symptoms of those people suffering from illnesses such as fibromyalgia. Mr Carmichael is considering early retirement on medical grounds. He may well be justified in this request because as far as I know there is no definite cure available for this illness which can follow a prolonged course and at times can even lead to quite severe disability. As there is nothing very specific for me to do I have made no further appointment to see him for a routine follow up. I have advised him to get in touch with the Self Help Organisations of patients suffering from fibromyalgia.”

28. Dr Waters wrote to Medway on 13 June 2001 saying that he had received the independent medical adviser’s report, which confirmed the extent of Mr Carmichael’s disability. Dr Waters said that the diagnosis of fibromyalgia had been confirmed and went on,

“This has debilitating physical and psychological effects and renders Mr Carmichael unfit for his usual occupation for the foreseeable future. I do not believe that he will be fit for any form of work and is likely to be permanently unfit for his usual job. Nonetheless, I would expect improvement in his condition, even if this may take a year or two to materialise. Ultimately, I would expect him to become capable of resuming gainful employment, albeit on a part-time basis initially and at a significantly lower level of responsibility than he has been working in the recent past.

I believe it would now be entirely reasonable to consider a definitive employment decision, and since Mr Carmichael will be unfit for any form of work for the foreseeable future, this will be in the form of termination of contract of employment on the grounds of incapacity due to ill health. On balance of probability, I believe that it is unlikely that Mr Carmichael will ever become fit to resume his previous occupation, however, I believe there is still a significant possibility of such a recovery though this will take a few years. This advice may affect any deliberations concerning ill health retirement pension benefits.”

29. According to Medway, clarification of Dr Waters’ recommendation was sought by telephone. Dr Stoot wrote to Medway on 19 June 2001,

“Further to our letter of 13 June 2001, I offer the following report for clarification.

In short, this gentleman suffers from a number of different debilitating symptoms. These are detailed below:

1. Pain involving the joints of the neck, shoulders, ankles and fingers which is accompanied by debilitating fatigue. Diagnosis of fibromyalgia has been made for this.

2. Anxiety state and depression with regard to his present circumstances.

3. Pain at the lower end of his spine.

4. Irritable bowel syndrome with episodes of diarrhoea alternating with constipation.

5. Chronic indigestion.

These symptoms are, of course, as claimed by the individual himself. Notwithstanding his present problems and unfitness for work, ultimately a recovery is envisaged, and certainly the general practitioner is firmly of the view that Mr Carmichael will be able to render satisfactory attendance and performance at work in the future. There is therefore no permanency, in which case I could not justify a recommendation for ill-health retirement.

I believe that a tribunal would find that he is covered by the Disability Discrimination Act 1995. This requires reasonable adjustments to be made and in this case that would consist of re-entering the work environment on a part-time basis. In addition it would have to be to a significant (sic) lower level of responsibility to ensure that the stresses on him are kept to a minimum, so protecting his health.

In view of the above I would recommend that alternative roles be sought for Mr Carmichael for him to take up at some point in the future. I am sure that this constructive approach would assist his recovery. However, if no such roles exist and such adjustments would be incompatible with the needs of Medway Council, then I would recommend that you consider termination of his contract on the grounds of incapacity due to ill-health.”

30. Medway wrote to Mr Carmichael on 26 June 2001, enclosing copies of the various letters from MIS. They said that the opinion of their medical advisers was that Mr Carmichael would be able to render satisfactory attendance and performance at work in the future. Medway said that, since ill health retirement was not an option, Mr Carmichael was due to be made redundant with effect from 3 July 2001. They offered to extend the notice period to 27 July 2001 in order for Mr Carmichael to have the opportunity to discuss alternative posts.

31. Mr Carmichael wrote to Medway on 27 June 2001. He pointed out that they had not informed him about his right to appeal against the decision not to grant him ill health retirement. He also said that Medway had not provided him with any substantial or detailed information about the ill health retirement system despite numerous requests from both him and his representatives. Mr Carmichael pointed out that the offer of alternative employment contradicted the advice of MIS that they did not believe that Mr Carmichael would be fit for any form of work. He confirmed his wish to appeal against the decision and asked to be provided with;

31.1. Complete and detailed information about the process for appealing, including the names and addresses of relevant bodies or individuals,

31.2. Written confirmation of the previous offer he had received to extend his contract until the issue was resolved,

31.3. The principal legislation and guidance in respect of ill health retirement

31.4. The reasons and arguments put forward regarding his ineligibility for ill health retirement,

31.5. A brief explanation of how the occupational health arrangements operated for Medway employees, including details of roles and job titles, how an incapacity certificate was obtained and why two reports had been produced.

32. Medway responded on 5 July 2001. They said there was no internal right of appeal because the decision was a purely medical one but said that Mr Carmichael could lodge an appeal under IDR. They referred him to a guide to the LGPS, which they said they had previously provided both for him and for his solicitors. Medway enclosed copies of correspondence relating to their referral of Mr Carmichael’s case and a copy of Regulation 27. They said, that following the letter of 13 June 2001 (see paragraph 28), they had sought further clarification from MIS, who had confirmed in their letter of 19 June 2001 that Mr Carmichael was not eligible for ill health retirement. 

33. Medway said that, once they forwarded a referral to MIS, there was no further input from their employees. They said MIS obtained the necessary medical information and provided an opinion for the council. Medway said that a permanent ill health certificate was issued by a suitably qualified occupational health doctor if they considered that the member met the criteria. Mr Carmichael requested a copy of Medway’s request for clarification. Medway explained that they had requested clarification by telephone because of the urgency of the case. They said that the interpretation of the medical evidence was undertaken by the Occupational Health Adviser, which was why they had sought clarification.

34. On 23 July 2001 Mr Carmichael was contacted by the Appointed Person, who said,

“I am required to review the decision in light of the evidence and supporting documentation submitted by both parties to the agreement. As an independent person appointed under the regulations I must do so impartially. I am unable to judge questions of maladministration and may therefore only judge whether the regulations of the scheme have been correctly applied in your case.

It is for this reason that I am unable to seek answers or request information on your behalf. I must contact Medway Council and ask them to submit their representation. This may include the reasoning behind the decision or it may not. If it is your view that this is an important factor in presenting your own justification then you must seek this information from them and submit it to me.

I am required to make a decision within two months of the date of your letter. I am also required to send you a copy of their representation. Your complaint documents will be sent to them by me in order that they can respond to the complaint you are making.

I believe this represents a fair and impartial approach to reviewing your claim. You are at liberty to submit any further comments or documentation as you see fit.”

35. On 25 July 2001 Medway wrote to Dr Stoot explaining that Mr Carmichael was appealing against the decision not to grant him an ill health pension. They said they were preparing their representation and asked if Dr Stoot had any further comments. Medway also asked if Dr Stoot would be prepared to accept direct contact from OHU. On 31 July Medway sent Dr Stoot a copy of Mr Carmichael’s submission to the Appointed Person and asked for his views.

36. Dr Waters responded on 8 August 2001,

“…Essentially, Dr Stoot’s letter of the 19th June clarifies the various conditions affecting Mr Carmichael. The symptoms affecting his digestive system would not be expected to cause long term incapacity or to prevent him from working. Pain in the lower end of his spine may require ergonomic considerations and frequent changes of posture, but again, should not prevent him from working long term. The anxiety state and depression relate to his present circumstances and, if these circumstances change can be expected to improve. This essentially leaves the main condition of fibromyalgia, apparently initially diagnosed by a consultant rheumatologist and confirmed by the occupational physician who carried out the independent assessment. Although I note that Mr Carmichael has now had the fibromyalgia symptoms for some 2 years, the prognosis for fibromyalgia in general is one of improvement or recovery. Whilst it is true that there are some cases which become chronic, it is also true that the majority of cases will improve, even if this takes many months.

It is fair to say that the prognosis for recovery is poorer, the longer the duration of symptoms. Therefore, Mr Carmichael may well have some residual disability, but I would not expect this to be as serious and severe as it is at the present time. This advice is based on a distillation of evidence from rheumatologists and other specialists dealing with this condition, as well as occupational physicians, both those advising employers and those advising the trustees of pension funds.

Much depends, in these situations, on the underlying meaning of the words used by the pension fund trustees, or their interpretation of the pension scheme rules. My understanding is that ill health retirement pension benefits are granted if a person is permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of their usual occupation or any other comparable employment by reason of ill health or infirmity of mind or body. 

Whilst Mr Carmichael is currently unfit for work, there is a small chance that he will regain fitness for his usual occupation and a greater chance that he will regain fitness for a comparable job within the next year or two. It is for this reason that we do not believe that he would be eligible for ill health retirement pension.”

37. Mr Carmichael submitted a response to the Appointed Person on 29 August 2001, which included (inter alia) a letter from a consultant Clinical Psychologist at the Centre for Fibromyalgia (UK) Ltd, Dr Stratton. In her letter Dr Stratton said that Mr Carmichael had visited the Centre on 22 May 2001 for an evaluation interview lasting over a two hour period. She said that the purpose of the interview was to develop a suitable treatment plan for Mr Carmichael and help him manage his symptoms. Dr Stratton explained that she had interviewed approximately 100 clients with fibromyalgia or similar symptoms over the previous 2 years at the Centre and in her capacity as an expert witness. Dr Stratton said that the Centre’s medical adviser had not been available on the day so Mr Carmichael had not undergone a physical examination. Dr Stratton concluded,

“It is believed that fibromyalgia is a condition with a poor prognosis, and that, although not fatal, the condition is chronic and sufferers do not recover completely from the illness (e.g. American College of Rheumatology, 1990: Criteria for diagnosing Fibromyalgia Syndrome). The chronicity aspect of fibromyalgia is reinforced by my experience of patients, of reading of the relevant medical literature, and by the opinion of medical experts with whom I work.

I have no reason to doubt the veracity of Mr Carmichael’s medical history as related to me. Nor do I have reason to doubt his symptoms were those that are commonly associated with fibromyalgia. It would seem reasonable to state that, given his fibromyalgic condition, Mr Carmichael’s capacity to carry out his duties in his professional career (as Policy and Development Officer for the DSS) would be seriously hampered, and that both the physical and mental demands of his job might prove impossible.

Finally, I must emphasise that this letter reflects my own professional opinions and, as such, should not be seen as a replacement for assessments and opinions of a suitably qualified medical specialist.”

38. Mr Carmichael also provided a copy of some guidelines produced by Dr Waters at MIS in February 1999 concerning the diagnosis and treatment of fibromyalgia. In this document, MIS said that FMS could be divided into two groups; Primary, which had a spontaneous onset with no obvious trigger and tended to affect women more than men, and Secondary, which began as a regional pain syndrome following injury. The prognosis for Secondary Fibromyalgia was said to be considerably better than for Primary Fibromyalgia. As far as long term capacity for work was concerned, the document said that sufferers of Primary Fibromyalgia would never fully recover but many would be capable of low/moderate stress, semi-sedentary jobs after a few years. Sufferers of Secondary Fibromyalgia were thought to have a good chance of recovery normally over two years or so. The document said that assessment for ill health retirement would depend upon;

38.1. Whether the FMS was Primary or Secondary,

38.2. Evidence of improvement 12-18 months after diagnosis,

38.3. Nature of occupation under consideration, and

38.4. Any associated conditions (physical and psychological) particular to the individual.

Dr Waters gave two examples in his document,

· A middle aged female manual worker with Primary Fibromyalgia, diagnosed by a rheumatologist and showing no evidence of improvement 12-18 months from diagnosis, can be regarded as permanently incapable of returning to her occupation,

· A medical secretary injures her ankle and develops a regional pain syndrome and secondary FMS. Both the FMS and the ankle injury are given appropriate therapy and ongoing improvement is apparent at 12 to 18 months. Recovery sufficient to allow return to work can be expected.

39. Mr Carmichael also commented on the medical evidence, as follows;

39.1. The referral letter (4 April 2001) gave incorrect and misleading dates and incorrectly claimed that Medway had tried to resolve his dispute.

39.2. His GP was not provided with his job description or the LGPS criteria for ill health retirement.

39.3. MIS had not approached his consultant.

39.4. Dr Qureshi’s report had been flawed and no account had been taken of his comments on it. Mr Carmichael said that he had been told that Dr Qureshi had subsequently telephoned MIS and asked for his comments to be taken into account.

39.5. MIS’ letter of 9 May 2001 was flawed in that it concluded incorrectly that an underlying diagnosis had not been found for his condition and said that, if it was fibromyalgia, the long-term prognosis indicated recovery.

39.6. Dr Karim had not been provided with Mr Carmichael’s submissions or his job description but that he had nevertheless provided crucial evidence to the effect that Mr Carmichael would not be able to provide satisfactory attendance or performance in the future.

39.7. MIS had ignored guidelines published by the Association of Local Authorities Medical Advisers, which said that the criteria for ill health retirement must be known by the applicant and the medical adviser.

39.8. LGPS Circular 73 said that the medical adviser should not be seen as acting as the employer’s representative. Mr Carmichael said that, although he had been assessed by an independent doctor (Dr Karim), MIS had retained control of the decision. He did not believe that MIS were independent.

39.9. MIS contradicted themselves within their letters. Mr Carmichael quoted from MIS’ letter of 13 June 2001 where they said they did not believe that he would ‘be fit for any form of work and was likely to be permanently unfit for his usual job’, but went on to say that they expected improvement in his condition and that they expected him to become capable of resuming gainful employment. Mr Carmichael pointed to MIS’ comment that, on balance of probability, it was unlikely that he would ever become fit to resume his previous occupation. He said this suggested that he met the criteria under the LGPS Regulations, which were for him to be permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his employment or comparable employment. Mr Carmichael suggested that MIS’ recommendation was therefore perverse.

39.10. Mr Carmichael pointed out that he had recently been through the redundancy process with Medway and that no comparable employment had been available.

40. The Appointed Person wrote to Mr Carmichael on 5 September 2001 proposing that he be referred to OHU. He explained that the unit was a specialist function within Kent County Council and was fully aware of the LGPS Regulations. The Appointed Person suggested that there could be no question as to the independence of their opinion. He went on to say that it was essential that their opinion was based purely on the medical evidence and not influenced by the ongoing Employment Tribunal case. He said that no mention of this should be made in the representation from either side. The Appointed Person proposed that both sides provide him with medical evidence and that OHU would seek specialist opinion if necessary. He said the costs should be borne by Medway.

41. Mr Carmichael asked if his GP would be approached again and whether Medway would be asked to prepare a submission. He asked if the submissions were to assist the Appointed Person or OHU and whether both sides would see the submissions. The Appointed Person confirmed that submissions would be copied to both parties. Mr Carmichael questioned whether OHU were really independent because of their earlier report for Medway.

42. In response, the Appointed Person said that it was his role to ensure that the review was impartial, independent and looked only at the medical evidence. He was of the opinion that he could not come to a decision without Mr Carmichael completing a further review by a suitably qualified occupational health practitioner. He said that it was his ‘impartial decision’ that, if Mr Carmichael were examined by a doctor from OHU who had not been previously involved, then such a review would be impartial. The Appointed Person concluded that, without such a review, he could not come to a decision and would have to pass Mr Carmichael’s case on to the Secretary of State.

43. Medway wrote to Dr Stoot on 12 September 2001 explaining that Mr Carmichael had a right of appeal. They said,

“Under the Regulations where a medical adviser is contracted to work for an authority, then the Pensions Administrator will request an independent review of the case, and we have been asked to submit a further representation on how our decision was reached. In his appeal Mr Carmichael has stated that he feels that his outstanding Industrial Tribunal against the Council may have influenced the outcome of his assessment and that some of the information supplied to yourself may have been misleading and ambiguous.

I note that you have already supplied medical information outlining the relevant medical facts pertinent to the request for ill health retirement. In addition, I should be grateful for your comments on whether it might be feasible/useful to forward medical reports on which your reply was based to Kent County Council (KCC) so that these can be considered by the independent reviewer…”

44. Medway say they sought advice from MIS around 20 September 2001 on Mr Carmichael’s Employment Tribunal claim.  Dr Stoot responded on 21 September 2001 noting that Mr Carmichael was of the opinion that his tribunal case had influenced the recommendation from MIS. Dr Stoot said that this was the first he knew of the tribunal case and that MIS’s assessment had been based entirely on medical evidence. Dr Stoot agreed to pass their records to OHU upon receipt of consent from Mr Carmichael.

45. Mr Carmichael wrote to the Appointed Person expressing the opinion that it was not possible to get around the fact that OHU had already been commissioned by Medway. He said that he would otherwise welcome their input. Mr Carmichael said that he did not dispute the opinion given by Dr Karim, whom he referred to as the independent occupational health doctor. He said that he contested the subsequent use of Dr Karim’s evidence by ‘non-independent parties’.

46. Medway wrote to the Appointed Person on 26 September 2001, enclosing a copy of Dr Stoot’s letter. Medway recommended that consent to release medical records was obtained from Mr Carmichael so that the independent assessor had access to all the relevant medical information.

47. Following further queries from Medway, Dr Stoot wrote to them on 27 September 2001,

“I have also reviewed the file on this case and there is no documented information as to why Kent County Council believed that he was not covered by the Disability Discrimination Act. I believe, however, that it is important to make the point that the Kent County Council cannot state whether someone is, or is not, covered by the Disability Discrimination Act, that can only be done by a tribunal. Similarly, I may be able to give an opinion as to whether or not he is covered but it is only an opinion.

There is no doubt in my mind that this gentleman is suffering from fibromyalgia syndrome but that is not an issue in my opinion. The issue is whether this condition is permanent, and therefore, whether ill health retirement should be granted.

With regard to your last paragraph, I do not believe that there is much to be gained by sending this gentleman for a further assessment, or indeed to get another rheumatologist to review this assessment.

My personal view is that this gentleman should be sent for a functional capacity evaluation to determine what he is truly capable of doing…”

48. The Appointed Person responded to Mr Carmichael’s letter on 28 September 2001,

“…It is not possible for you to be awarded an ill health benefit from the local government pension scheme unless it is confirmed, by an Independent Qualified Occupational Health Physician approved by the Pension Scheme, that you meet the criteria required by the regulations.

In order for such a confirmation to be given… it will be necessary for you to be examined by the approved physician. In this sense it will not be acceptable to me that Medway Council and your goodself send a batch of conflicting evidence and then for a decision to be made. I am seeking for you to be fully examined including the review of relevant medical records in order that a separate and impartial opinion is given. The responsibility of making this decision rests with the Occupational Health Adviser…

I note that [OHU] is not appointed by Medway Council to provide decisions regarding ill health retirement. The opinion given by [OHU] dated 20 September 2000 was in respect of ways in which your conditions of employment may be changed to assist a recovery and potential return to work. I attach a copy of the request and response to confirm this.

This report did not form a part of your representation to me and was not material to the decision/opinion given by [MIS]. [OHU] has no less than 3 qualified physicians and I propose that you be reviewed by a Doctor other than…who wrote the recommendations set out in the letter dated 20 September 2000.

…I would ask you to confirm your agreement to such a review. Sadly, if you are unable to do so I have no alternative than to dismiss your complaint. Alternatively, you may withdraw the complaint awaiting the outcome of your Industrial Dispute with the Council. You are at liberty to seek ill health retirement at any point and can do so at a later point regardless of the decision made by any Industrial Tribunal relating to an employment issue.”

49. According to Mr Carmichael, the Appointed Person informed him that the regulations required him to use OHU. Mr Carmichael agreed to a review by OHU. The Appointed Person notified Medway and asked them not to send OHU a copy of the MIS reports. He also wrote to OHU asking that the doctor who had seen Mr Carmichael previously not be assigned to his case. The Appointed Person wrote to Mr Carmichael on 10 October 2001 informing him that it was the intention to obtain an impartial opinion regarding his health. The Appointed Person said that he had no interest in the ongoing industrial dispute with Medway. He proposed that Mr Carmichael be seen by a doctor at OHU who had not been previously involved. Mr Carmichael was told that he could take any supporting information with him when he attended the doctor and that OHU would be instructed to seek further information from his GP.

50. The Appointed Person said that he had asked Medway to agree not to submit any previous documentation in order to satisfy Mr Carmichael that OHU’s opinion was impartial. He also said that he would ensure that OHU were provided with a copy of Mr Carmichael’s job description. The Appointed Person wrote to Medway along these lines on 12 October 2001. He wrote to OHU on 18 October 2001 referring Mr Carmichael’s case to them and asking that a doctor who had not previously been involved be appointed. The Appointed Person also said that Mr Carmichael had been asked to provide any supporting documentation but that Medway had agreed that they would not submit the report from MIS.

51. Mr Carmichael wrote to OHU on 5 November 2001 acknowledging an invitation for a consultation on 14 November 2001. He said that he had been informed that he could supply any documents he thought relevant and enclosed the following;

· Dr Karim’s report dated 31 May 2001,

· Dr Sharma’s report dated 10 May 2001,

· Dr Stratton’s letter dated 23 May 2001,

· A research document, ‘Fibromyalgia and Workplace Disability’,

· An extract from his submission to the Appointed Person.

Mr Carmichael also provided a statement on his condition as it affected him.

52. Medway wrote to the Appointed Person on 14 November 2001 enclosing medical evidence which had been sent to them in respect of the tribunal case. They said that, whilst they did not seek to influence the outcome of the review, they felt they should draw the Appointed Person’s attention to this evidence. Medway said that some of Mr Carmichael’s evidence contradicted his later submissions and quoted a statement from a letter dated 25 August in which, they said, Mr Carmichael had stated ‘what I take from the mass of literature and personal experience about FMS is that I will be able to return to work’. The Appointed Person responded that he could see no benefit to be gained from passing the documents to OHU and that he would not be passing them to OHU. He said that he thought it would only act so as to further compound the dispute rather than assist the clinical opinion but went on to say that they were free to send the information to OHU. The Appointed Person has subsequently stated that he does not know if Medway sent any documents to OHU. According to Medway, no further material was sent to OHU after 14 November 2001.

53. Mr Carmichael e-mailed the Appointed Person on 26 November 2001,

“Re: the KCC OHU Doctor’s report on my appeal of their ill health pension decision: due very shortly-

I am certain that you would not intend copying the above report from the OHU Doctor to my employers – but I would like to make this request to you formally, for the avoidance of doubt.

I hope that you will agree with me that my employers do not have the right to receive personal medical details about me – and any non-pension related opinions based on these.

I feel this is particularly important as the OHU Management have very recently been contacted by my employers and have, on their behalf, now produced a legal document concerning myself, which helps to support my employers’ position, while undermining my own.

This development has, of course, been initiated by Medway Council in full knowledge of your attempts to seek an independent approach and assessment from the OHU.”

54. The Appointed Person informed Mr Carmichael that he was not aware that Medway had sent any documentation relating to his case to the OHU.

55. On 28 November 2001 the OHU doctor, Dr Whitaker, wrote to the Appointed Person informing him that he had seem Mr Carmichael on 14 November 2001, together with information supplied by Mr Carmichael. Dr Whitaker said that, having examined Mr Carmichael and gone through the information, he was of the opinion that Mr Carmichael did not meet the criteria for ill health retirement. The Appointed Person notified Mr Carmichael on 3 December 2001 that, on the basis of that opinion, he was not upholding the complaint against Medway. The Appointed Person said that he was entirely satisfied that Dr Whitaker was fully aware of the terms of the LGPS.

56. Mr Carmichael’s OPAS adviser requested some additional information concerning Dr Whitaker’s decision. The Appointed Person responded that Mr Carmichael was welcome to discuss any points with Dr Whitaker. Mr Carmichael’s OPAS adviser was also provided with a copy of Dr Whitaker’s notes, which were hand-written. Dr Whitaker’s conclusion was that the permanence of Mr Carmichael’s condition was ‘in doubt’.

57. Mr Carmichael wrote to OHU requesting further information about Dr Whitaker’s decision. He received a letter from the Occupational Health Manager dated 10 January 2002, which said,

“I have now had the opportunity to discuss your request with Dr Whitaker. I can confirm that Dr Whitaker reviewed and considered all information provided by yourself, report from Dr Margaret Stratton, report from Dr Karim, report from Dr Sharma and information supplied by yourself.

Dr Whitaker met with you on 14 December 2001 and is unable to come to the conclusion that you meet the criteria of the Local Government Pension Scheme in that you will be permanently incapacitated for the next 27 years.”

58. Mr Carmichael appealed to the Secretary of State (SoS), who issued his decision on 30 July 2002. The SoS stated that the question for decision was whether Mr Carmichael ceased employment with Medway by reason of being permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his former employment or any comparable employment with Medway because of ill health or infirmity of mind or body. The SoS did not find that Mr Carmichael had ceased his employment with Medway on these grounds and he dismissed Mr Carmichael’s appeal.

59. The SoS noted that Regulation 27 required Mr Carmichael’s condition to be such that it was unlikely that it would improve sufficiently for him to perform the duties of his previous employment, or any other comparable employment with Medway, efficiently before age 65. The SoS took the view that any comparable employment should be one that existed within Medway and should be one which could have been offered to Mr Carmichael at the time his retirement was being considered. He took the view that it was not relevant to consider whether Mr Carmichael was capable of performing duties which were unavailable or hypothetical. The SoS noted that no evidence had been provided to show that Medway had offered Mr Carmichael any alternative employment which could be considered comparable.

60. The SoS considered (inter alia) the following medical evidence; a list of sickness absences between 18 October 1999 and 7 May 2000, a letter from consultant orthopaedic surgeon Mr Hammer dated 20 April 2000, Dr Sharma’s letters of 14 June 2000 and 10 May 2001, Ms Bader’s letter of 14 September 2000, Dr Qureshi’s letter of 23 April 2001, Dr Sperber’s letter of 9 May, Dr Water’s letters of 22 May, 13 June, and 8 August 2001, Dr Stratton’s letter of 23 May 2001, Dr Karim’s letter of 31 May 2001, Dr Stoot’s preliminary report for the Tribunal and letters dated 19 June and 21 September 2001, a witness statement for the Tribunal from OHU’s Occupational Health Manager, Dr Whitaker’s letter of 28 November 2001 and a report from a consultant rheumatologist, Dr Hopkinson, dated 11 March 2002. The SoS did not consider Dr Hopkinson’s report to be relevant to his consideration of Mr Carmichael's case because it had not been available at the time his application was under consideration by Medway.

61. Ms Bader’s letter of 14 September 2000 had followed a consultation on 5 September 2000. She noted that Mr Carmichael had an underlying medical condition which was under investigation and treatment. Ms Bader said that she had advised Mr Carmichael on measures to promote health and that he was following ‘lifestyle advice’ from his consultant. She recommended that any grievance procedures be resolved before Mr Carmichael return to work because they were causing him severe anxiety. Ms Bader made several recommendations aimed at accommodating Mr Carmichael’s condition on his return to work. She said that he was fit for the post of full time policy officer and should be able to give effective service if her recommendations were implemented. Ms Bader also suggested that Mr Carmichael’s condition was not covered by the Disability Discrimination Act.

62. The SoS noted that a certificate was required from an independent registered medical practitioner qualified in occupational health medicine. He noted that, in his letter of 9 May 2001, Dr Sperber had suggested that Mr Carmichael should be sent for an independent medical examination. The SoS took this to mean that the doctors at MIS did not consider themselves to be independent. He therefore concluded that the medical opinion given by MIS could not be regarded as independent for the purposes of the Regulations. The SoS concluded that Drs Hammer, Karim, Qureshi, Sharma and Stratton had not been shown to have the appropriate qualifications as required by Regulation 97 (see paragraph 9). He noted that Drs Sperber, Stoot and Waters at MIS were appropriately qualified but could not be considered independent.

63. The SoS said that, while none of these doctors appeared to meet the requirements of the Regulations, this did not mean that their medical evidence was irrelevant or invalid. He noted that the Regulations did not require the medical practitioner to provide a detailed report and that Dr Whitaker had certified that Mr Carmichael did not meet the requirements for ill health retirement. The SoS decided that Mr Carmichael had not ceased employment with Medway on the grounds of permanent ill health and was not entitled to immediate payment of a pension.

64. Kent have explained that their Pension Fund Committee met in March 1998 to consider the exercise of discretionary powers under the Regulations. They noted that, as an Administering Authority, they were required to approve occupational health advisers used by LGPS employers under Regulation 97(10) (see paragraph 8). The Committee resolved to approve those occupational health advisers who met the qualifications criteria recommended by the United Kingdom Steering Committee. Medway notified Kent in April 1998 that their advisers met the qualifications criteria and Kent confirmed that certification from the advisers would therefore be acceptable.

65. Medway were asked to provide a copy of any guidelines they would have provided for their medical advisers. They provided a copy of the guidelines, which they say MIS used in assessing Mr Carmichael. The particular set of guidelines they provided refer to the LGPS Regulations in 2004. Medway say that they queried this with MIS and were told,

“We operated to exactly the same LGPS rules as faxed across with the sole exception that the amendment re “more likely than not” had not been promulgated. However, this was the burden of proof that we would have been using at the time and there is thus no material difference between the pre-2004 regs and the current regs so far as our practice is concerned.”

66. The guidelines state,

“…Before making any decision on entitlement to ill health benefits or early payment of a preserved benefit on the grounds of ill-health, the employer must obtain a certificate from an independent registered medical practitioner qualified in occupational health medicine. The certificate must give the doctor’s opinion on whether the member is “permanently incapable” of discharging efficiently the duties of his/her employment because of ill health or infirmity of mind or body (regulation 97(9)). “Permanently incapable” is defined in regulation 27(5) as meaning “that the member will, more likely than not, be incapable until, at the earliest, his 65th birthday. In this context, “independent” means having no previous involvement with the case, and not acting as the representative of any particular party (regulation 97(9A)). The administering authority must approve a scheme employer’s choice of doctor before the employer refers to them any question of a member’s health (regulation 97(10)).”

Requests for Information

67. On 4 May 2001 Mr Carmichael e-mailed Medway acknowledging (inter alia) receipt of a LGPS booklet. This e-mail was not delivered and Mr Carmichael re-submitted it on 6 May 2001. On 14 May 2001 Mr Carmichael’s solicitors, Alston Ashby, requested ‘any relevant information and documentation with procedure and guidance in connection with the Ill Health Retirement Scheme’. Medway’s Legal Services responded advising that they had been instructed that relevant literature had already been sent to Mr Carmichael.

68. A further request for detailed information about ill health retirement was submitted by Alston Ashby on 22 May 2001. Legal Services sent a LGPS booklet to Alston Ashby on 30 May 2001. Alston Ashby requested a copy of the rules and regulations covering ill health retirement on 5 June 2001. Legal Services responded that the booklet contained all the information required for Alston Ashby to determine the rules and regulations which applied. They said that the necessary legislation could be obtained from the HMSO website and provided the address. Legal Services said that it was unreasonable for Alston Ashby to expect the Council to copy all the legislation which applied to the LGPS.

69. Alston Ashby replied on 6 June 2001 that they did not consider it unreasonable to request Medway to supply copies of the rules and regulations. They wrote again on 7 June 2001 saying that it was for Medway to provide Mr Carmichael with help and assistance in connection with the various complex regulations which related to ill health retirement. Legal Services reiterated that it was unreasonable to expect the Council to copy all the statutory provisions relating to the LGPS and said that it was for Alston Ashby to advise Mr Carmichael. They suggested that Alston Ashby provide those questions to which Mr Carmichael required answers.

70. Alston Ashby wrote to Medway on 18 June 2001 with the following points;

70.1. What were all the potential options for Mr Carmichael in terms of improving his LGPS benefits should he be recommended for ill health retirement?

70.2. Medway’s policy statement concerning its use of discretions on LGPS matters,

70.3. Was there an appeals or review process agreed for Medway and full details?

70.4. What were all the potential implications for Mr Carmichael of a decision by OHU that his health had been adversely affected by the actions of Medway?

71. Legal Services provided extracts from the LGPS Regulations 1997 and a copy of Medway’s Policy on Employer Discretions on 27 June 2001. They also responded to the points raised by Alston Ashby.

72. Mr Carmichael wrote to Medway on 27 June 2001 requesting (inter alia) the principal legislation and guidance in respect of ill health retirement. Medway responded on 5 July 2001 referring Mr Carmichael to a guide to the LGPS, which they said they had previously provided both for him and for his solicitors. Medway enclosed copies of correspondence relating to their referral of Mr Carmichael’s case and a copy of Regulation 27.

CONCLUSIONS

73. Mr Carmichael has raised a number of concerns about the way in which his application for ill health retirement was handled by both Medway and Kent. I believe that the core issue is whether or not the Regulations have been applied properly and fairly.

74. A member will qualify for ill health retirement if he is permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his employment or any other comparable employment with his employing authority by reason of ill health. The Regulations provide definitions of ‘permanently’ and ‘comparable employment’ (see paragraph 6). The decision as to whether a member is to receive an ill health pension is, in the first instance, to be made by his employer (Medway) but, before making their decision, they are required to obtain a certificate from an independent medical adviser (see paragraph 7).

75. Medway opted to obtain the relevant certificate in Mr Carmichael’s case from MIS. Mr Carmichael questioned whether MIS could be considered independent and the SoS decided they could not. The SoS based this decision upon Dr Sperber’s letter of 9 May 2001 in which he recommended that Mr Carmichael be sent for an independent medical examination to obtain further information as to his condition (see paragraph 23). The SoS decided that this indicated that MIS did not consider themselves to be independent. I would not go so far. Dr Sperber had said earlier in his letter that he did not have sufficient information to form an opinion. To my mind, his recommendation that Mr Carmichael attend a further examination should be seen as part of an information gathering process. It does not, of itself, establish a lack of independence on the part of Dr Sperber. Kent had endorsed Medway’s choice of medical advisers as required by Regulation 97(10) (see paragraph 8).

76. There are, however, other issues which impacted upon Medway’s choice of MIS to provide the relevant certificate in Mr Carmichael’s case. In addition to applying for ill health retirement, Mr Carmichael had also initiated employment tribunal proceedings on the grounds of disability discrimination. Medway sought advice from MIS in preparing their response to this tribunal case. Although they say this was after they had made their decision as to Mr Carmichael’s retirement, MIS had commented on whether Mr Carmichael would be covered by the Disability Discrimination Act in their earlier letters (see Dr Stoot 19 June 2001). Whilst I would not go as far as to say that this of necessity meant that MIS did not fulfil the requirements of Regulation 97(9), it did nothing to reassure Mr Carmichael that his application for ill health retirement had been considered properly. I acknowledge that the two cases were entirely separate and required MIS to consider different criteria. However, the two cases were running concurrently and it is easy to see why the use of MIS for both would cause Mr Carmichael to question their role in his ill health retirement.

77. Mr Carmichael suggests that too much weight was given to Ms Bader’s report. Medway would not have been able to ask Ms Bader to provide a certificate under the Regulations because she did not hold an appropriate qualification. However, they did not do so and Ms Bader’s letter did not figure in Medway’s consideration of Mr Carmichael’s application for ill health retirement. It was mentioned in the SoS’s IDR determination but only as one of the pieces of evidence considered by the SoS. Mr Carmichael concern is disproportionate to the weight given to Ms Bader’s letter.

78. At the appeal stage, the Appointed Person decided that a further independent opinion should be sought. Unfortunately this opinion was sought from OHU who were also involved in the tribunal case. Again, I do not say that this automatically meant that OHU were unable to give an independent view but it was hardly likely to reassure Mr Carmichael. In my view, it would have been advisable to seek advice from a source which was totally unconnected to the tribunal case. It would be incorrect to say that the Regulations required this further medical opinion from OHU.  The Appointed Person was correct in saying that an ill health benefit  could only be awarded after certification from a Qualified Occupational Medical Physician approved by the Pension Scheme. 

79. There is no evidence that Dr Karim meets the requirements of Regulation 97(14)(b) (see paragraph 9) and he had not been approved by Kent, as required by Regulation 97(10) (see paragraph 8). It is not a breach of the Regulation for Dr Karim to provide an opinion but he was not in a position to provide the certification required by the Regulations. Mr Carmichael is concerned that MIS did not appear to follow guidelines provide by the Association of Local Authority Medical Advisers. They did provide a copy of the guidelines they had followed and these match the terms of the Regulations. Guidelines are very useful, of course, but I am more concerned with compliance with the Regulations.

80. Having obtained medical advice, Medway were required to decide whether Mr Carmichael met the requirements of Regulation 27. In so doing they were required to follow certain well established principles, i.e. not to take any irrelevant matters into account, to interpret the Regulations correctly, to ask themselves the right questions and not to come to a perverse decision. By perverse, it is generally meant that the decision should not be one that no other decision maker would reasonably make in the same circumstances.

81. I am not persuaded that that either Medway or Kent took irrelevant matters into account. I do, however, accept that using the same organisations for advice on both his ill health application and his industrial tribunal case created a blurred picture. For the most part I am satisfied that Medway and Kent asked the correct questions and interpreted the Regulations correctly. They correctly identified that his condition should be permanent and that his condition should be certified by an independent medical adviser. I am not satisfied, however, that at all times they were clear as to the qualifying criteria relating to the effect Mr Carmichael’s condition should have on his employment prospects.

82. Regulation 27 states that the member must be incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his employment or any comparable employment with his employing authority. In his letter of 13 June 2001, Dr Waters said that Mr Carmichael was likely to be permanently unfit for his usual occupation for the foreseeable future. He went on to say that he expected Mr Carmichael to recover to the extent that he would be capable of gainful employment but on a part-time basis and at a lower level of responsibility. He concluded,

“On balance of probability, I believe that it is unlikely that Mr Carmichael will ever become fit to resume his previous occupation, however, I believe that there is still a significant possibility of such a recovery though this will take a few years.”

83. With such contradictory advice within one letter, it is understandable that Medway sought clarification. Clarification, however, did not come from Dr Waters himself but from Dr Stoot. Dr Stoot referred to the comment by Dr Qureshi to the effect that Mr Carmichael would be able to render satisfactory attendance and performance at work in the future. He was of the opinion that Mr Carmichael’s condition was not therefore permanent and he failed the test for ill health retirement on this basis. Mr Carmichael had already made MIS aware that he did not agree with Dr Qureshi’s statement, which he believed had been made because Dr Qureshi was reluctant to exclude the possibility that he might be able to work in the future. Dr Qureshi was not offering her opinion in relation to Mr Carmichael’s duties with Medway or any comparable employment with them. Her comment is, to my mind, more general than this and relates to work of any type. I would have thought that it would have been more advisable for Medway to have sought clarification directly from Dr Waters at this point. Medway have acknowledged that it would have been preferable for them to obtain clarification from Dr Waters but say that Dr Stoot’s comments agree with Dr Waters’ later comments. However, there is room for argument about Dr Stoot’s opinions. He has certainly said that Mr Carmichael does not meet the permanency criteria, but he was also casting some doubt on whether Mr Carmichael could undertake his own or comparable work.  I do not regard an ability to work on only a part time basis as meaning someone can efficiently discharge the duties of a full time post. Dr Stoot’s last note was to express a need for a further assessment to be made to establish what Mr Carmichael could do.

84. Dr Waters provided further advice following Mr Carmichael’s appeal to Kent. In his letter of 8 August 2001, he stated that the prognosis for fibromyalgia in general was one of improvement or recovery. It is clear from subsequent sentences in Dr Waters’ letter that he is familiar with the LGPS Regulations inasmuch as he refers specifically to the member being permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of the usual occupation or comparable employment. However, he goes on to say that there is a small chance that Mr Carmichael will regain fitness for his usual occupation but a greater chance that he will regain fitness for a comparable job. I take the view that Dr Waters has, in effect, repeated the contradiction in his earlier report and, thus, Dr Stoot’s ‘clarification’ was not helpful.

85. I am not persuaded that either Medway or their medical advisers were sufficiently clear in their own minds as to the meaning of comparable employment. The comments by the medical advisers suggest confusion and, since Medway were happy to accept these opinions, they have not convinced me that they were any less confused. There was an opportunity to counter the effects of this confusion when Mr Carmichael appealed against the decision not to award him an ill health pension. Kent did indeed opt to seek further medical advice. There is no evidence to support Mr Carmichael’s assertion that the Appointed Person told him that the Regulations required a referral to OHU just that he required a further medical opinion. Dr Whitaker’s report was brief in the extreme. He merely opined that Mr Carmichael did not meet the criteria for ill health retirement without offering any reasoning.

86. Following further probing by Mr Carmichael and/or his representatives, it was stated that Dr Whitaker was of the opinion that Mr Carmichael would not be ‘permanently incapacitated for the next 27 years’. His hand-written notes stated ‘permanence in doubt’. Kent assured Mr Carmichael that they were entirely satisfied that Dr Whitaker was fully aware of the terms of the LGPS Regulations. However, since he provided so little explanation for his conclusions it is difficult to be entirely sure of this.

87. I agree with the SoS that the comparable employment should be with Medway. Regulation 27(1) specifies that the comparable employment should be with the employing authority. However, I do not agree that there has to be any specific comparable employment available. The test is whether the member is capable of performing the duties of the employment not whether the employment is actually available. Thus, Medway do not need to show that they had offered Mr Carmichael any comparable employment only that there were jobs within the authority, of a comparable nature to his usual occupation, which he was capable of.

88. In summary, I am not satisfied that either Medway or Kent or their respective advisers had a clear grasp of the LGPS Regulations when they considered Mr Carmichael’s application for ill health retirement. In addition, by using the same advisers for both the ill health application and the industrial tribunal, Medway and Kent created a blurred picture which did not inspire confidence on Mr Carmichael’s part. In saying this I do not intend to cast any doubt on the integrity of any of the parties, whom I am sure acted with the best of intentions. But there is a need not only to act fairly but being seen to act fairly.

89. Mr Carmichael has raised a number of other concerns, which I see as largely peripheral to the main issue. For example, that he was not advised of his right of appeal when told that he had not been awarded ill health retirement. I do not see that this caused him any injustice since he immediately wrote to Medway advising them that he had not been so informed. Similarly, he did not receive an interim letter under Regulation 101(2) but at the time he was fully aware of what was happening. I have already commented on the fact that Medway’s use of MIS was inadvisable in the circumstances. However, I would say that Dr Qureshi also made reference to the grievance case in her letter. Thus, even if Medway had not included it in their referral letter, the MIS doctor would have been made aware of it by Dr Qureshi. I have seen no evidence to support Mr Carmichael’s suggestion that Kent acted as ‘as an advocate for the employer’.

90. I am upholding Mr Carmichael’s complaint against Medway and Kent for the reasons given in paragraph 88. I have decided that the decision should be remitted to Medway. Mr Carmichael is of the opinion that I should make the decision as to whether or not he met the criteria for ill health retirement myself. He is concerned about a perceived ‘enmity’ between himself and Medway. Having taken the view that much of the medical evidence was confused and contradictory, I do not believe it would be safe to base my own decision upon it.

DIRECTIONS

91. I now direct that within 3 months of the date hereof Medway will obtain a further medical certificate as required by Regulation 97(9) from an entirely new adviser, who has not been involved in the tribunal case in any way. They will then reconsider whether Mr Carmichael met the criteria for ill health retirement in April 2001.

DAVID LAVERICK 

Pensions Ombudsman 

31 May 2005
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